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STANLEY BOIM, individually and as administrator of the 

ESTATE OF DAVID BUIM, deceased; and JOYCE BOIM, 

HOLY LAND FOUNDATION FOR RELIEF AND 

DEVELOPMENT, el nl., 
Dcfer~drlnts-Appellnnls. 

Appcals from thc Unitcd Statcs District Court 
for the Northern District ni Illinois, Eastern Division. 

No. OD C 2905-Arlander Keys, Mn~is l rn lu  I r ~ d ~ r .  

ARGUED SEI'TEMUER 10,2008-DECIDED DECEMBEI? 3,2008 

Before EASTERBROOK, Cl r i cJ ] l rdge ,  and POSNER, FLAUM, 

K A N N E ,  ROVNER, WOOD, EVANS, WILLIAMS, SYKES, and 

TINDER, C i l . c ~ r i l  I rrdges. 

POSNER, C i r c ~ r i t  11rdge. In 1996 David Boim, a Jewish 

teenager w h o  was  both an Israeli citizen and an American 

citizen, living in Israel, was  shot  to death by two men at  a 
b u s  s top  near  Jerusalem. His  parents filed this suit four 
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years later, alleging that his killers had been Hamas 
gunmen and naming as defendants Muhammad Salah 

plus three organizations: the Holy Land Foundation for 
Relief and Development, the American Muslim Societp, 

and the Quranic Literacy Institute. (A fourth, the Islamic 
Association of Palestine-National, appears to be either an 
alter ego of the American Muslim Society or just an 

alternative name for it, and need not b e  discussed sepa- 
rately. There are other defendants as well bu t  they are not 
involved in the appeals.) The complaint accused the 
defendants of having provided financial support  to 

Hamas before David Boim's death and by doing so  of 
having violated 18 U.S.C. 5 2333(a), which provides that 
"any national of the United States injured in his or her 
person, property, or business by reason of an act of inter- 
national terrorism, or his or her estate, survivors, or heirs, 
may sue therefor in any appropriate district court of 
the United States and shall recover threefold the damages 
he  or she  sustains and the cost of the suit, including attor- 
ney's fees." 

The district court denied the defendants' motion to 

dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim, 127 
F. Supp. 2d 1002 (N.D. 111. 2001); the defendants had 

argued that providing financial assistance to a terrorist 
group is not an act of international terrorism and tliere- 
fore is not within the scope of section 2333. We 

authorized an interlocutory appeal, 28 U.S.C. 5 1292(b), and 
the panel that heard the appeal affirmed the district court. 

Boittt v. Q~r~nt l i c  Literncll Inslittrfe, 291 F.3d 1000 (7th Cir. 

2002). The case then resumed in that court. The court 
granted summary judgment in favor of the plaintiffs 
with respect to the liability of the three defendants other 
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than the Quranic Literacy Institute. 340 F. Supp. 2d 885 
(N.D. 111. 2004). A jury was convened and, after a trial 
lasting a week, found the Institute-which having filed a 

statement of "nonparticipation" attended but did not 
participate in the trial-liable. The jury then assessed 
damages of $52 million against a l l  the defendants (includ- 

ing the ones not before us) jointly and severally. The 
amount was  then trebled and attorneys' fees added.  

These defendants again appealed,  this time from a 

final judgment. The panel vacated the judgment and 
directed the district court to redetermine liability. 511 
F.3d 707 (7th Cir. 2007). Iudge Evans agreed with the 
reversal as to the Holy Land Foundation but otherwise 
dissented. 

The plaintiffs petitioned for rehearing en banc, and the 
full court granted the petition, primarily to consider the 
elements of a suit under  18 U.S.C. 5 2333 against financial 

supporters of terrorism. The parties have filed supple- 
mental briefs. A number  of amici curiae have weighed 
in as well, including the Department of Justice, which 
has taken the side of the plaintiffs. 

The first panel opinion rejected the argument that the 
statute does not impose liability on donors to groups that 
sponsor or engage in terrorism. The supplemental briefs 

d o  not revisit the issue, and at oral argument counsel 
for Salah and the Holy Land I7oundation disclaimed 
reliance on their former position concerning the liability 

of donors. But in a letter to the court after oral argu- 

ment, Salah's counsel indicated that the disclaimer had 
been based solely on a belief that the doctrine of law of the 
case foreclosed any further consideration of the statutory 
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issue in this court.  That was  a mistake. The full court can 
revisit any ruling by a panel. All a rguments  that llie 
defendants have  presented in their appeals  are open 
today-and will be open in the Supreme Court. It is better 
to decide the  question than to leave it hanging; w h y  
bother lo address  the elements of a legal claim that may 
not exist? Before deciding what  a plaintiff must prove in 
order  to recover from a donor  under  section 2333, w e  
should decide whether  the statute applies. United Slnles 
Nntiollnl Bnnk oJ0rcg011 il. J I I S I ~ ~ ~ I I C ~  Age111s OJAIII~I-icn, JIIC., 
508 U.S. 439, 445-48 (1993). 

Section 2333 does not  say that someone w h o  assists in 
an act of international terrorism is liable; that is, it  does  
not mention "secondary" liability, the kind that 18 U.S.C. 
5 2 creates by imposing criminal liability on "whoever 
commits an offense against the United States or aids, abets, 
counsels, commands,  induces or  procures its commis- 
sion," or  "willfully causes an  act to b e  done  which i f  

directly performed by  him or  another would b e  an 
offense against the United States." See also I 8  U.S.C. 5 3 
(accessory after the fact). The  Supreme  Court  in Ccnfrnl 
Bnnk oJDcniicr, N.A. il. Firsf Ii1terstnte Bnnk oJDelrver, N.A., 
511 U.S. 164 (1994), held that section lO(b) of the 
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, which prohibits 
securities fraud, does not  reach aiding and abetting 
because it  makes n o  reference to secondary liability, the 
kind of liability that s tatutes such as  I 8  U.S.C. 55 2 and 3 
create in criminal cases. The  Court  discussed the 
securities laws at  length, but  nothing in its holding turns 
on particular features of those laws. 
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So statutory silence on the subject of secondary liability 

means there is none; and section 2333(a) authorizes 
awards of damages to private parties but does not 

mention aiders and abettors or other secondary actors. 
Nevertheless the first panel opinion concluded that 

section 2333 does create secondary liability. It distin- 

guished Ceirfrnl Bnrlk of Denver as having involved an 
implied private right of action (for it was  a privale suit, 
yet section lO(b) does not purport  Lo aulhorize such suits), 

while section 2333(a) expressly creates a private right. But 

as the dissenting Justices in Ceilfrnl Enilk of Derlorr had 
pointed out, the majority's holding was  not limited to 
private actions. 571 U.S. at 200. It encompassed suits by 
the SEC, which section lO(b) authorizes expressly. 

Congress agreed with thisunderstanding of Cenfrnl  Bnilk 
ofDeirver,  for the next year it enacted 15 U.S.C. 5 78t(e) to 
allow the SEC in section 10(b) suits to obtain relief 
against aiders, abettors, and others who  facilitate 
primary violations. Sfonei-idge Investriierif Pnrfnei-s, LLC v .  
Scieirfi/ic-Atlnr~tn. Jnc., 128 S. Ct. 761, 771-72 (2008). The 

enactmenl of section 78t(e) would have been pointless 

had Cerltrnl Bnnk of Denver allowed secondary liability to 

be imposed in suits, such as suits by the SEC under  
section IO(b), that the statute expressly authorizes. Years 

later, reaffirming Ceillrnl Bnnk of Deliver, the Supreme 

Court repeated that the earlier decision had not been 

limited to private suits under  section IO(b). Storreridge 
J~roesfmei t f  Pnrtilrrs, LLC 3 .  Sciei~fi f ic-Aflnil tn,  lrlc., srrprn, 128 

S. Ct. at 768-69. 

The first panel opinion relied on Hnrris Trtrsf &r Snuings 

Bnnk v .  Snloii~on Sriiifli Bnrney, Irlc., 530 U.S. 238 (2000), an 
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ERISA case involving an application of trust law. Trust 
law permits trust beneficiaries to maintain actions 
against third parties who  have received trust assets 
improperly. ERISA not only does not upset this principle 
of trust law; it authorizes the Secretary of Labor to 
penalize third parties w h o  "kno~ring[ ly]  participat[e]" in 
a fiduciary's misconduct.  29 U.S.C. 55 1106(a), 
1132(1)(1)(B)). Hnrris Trlrst did not cite Cetltl-nl Brink of 

Denver and did not purport  to limit its holding. Sfo~rei-ids?, 
decided eight years after Hnrris Trrrst, also did not 
treat Hnrris Tr~rst as circumscribing Centrnl Bnrlk oJ Den- 
uer-it did no1 even cite Hnrris Trtrsf. 

To read secondary liability into section 2333(a), more- 
over, ~ r o u l d  enlarge the federal courts' extraterritorial 
jurisdiction. The defendants are accused of promoting 
terrorist activities abroad. Congress has the power to 
impose liability for acts that occur abroad but have 
effects within the United States, F. Hoffinnn-Ln Roclle Lfd. u. 
Elllpngrnrl S.A., 542 U.S. 155, 165 (2004), but  it must  
make the extraterritorial scope of a statute clear. Sir~nll u. 
Uliifed Stntes, 544 U.S. 385, 388-89 (2005); EEOC u. 
ArnRinn A~nericnr~ Oil Co., 499 U.S. 244, 248 (1991). 

The first panel opinion discussed approvingly an alter- 
native and more promising ground for bringing donors 
to terrorist organizations within the grasp of section 2333. 
The ground involves a chain of explicit statutory 
incorporations by reference. The first link in the chain is 
the statutory definition of "international terrorism" as 
"activities tha t . .  . involve violent acts o r  acts dangerous to 
human  life that are a violation of the criminal l a ~ f s  of the 
United Slales," that "appear to be  intended . . . to intimi- 
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date or coerce a civilian population" or  "affect the 
conduct  of a government b y . .  . assassination," and that 
"transcend national boundaries in terms of the means  by 
which they are accomplished" or  "the persons they appear  
intended to int imidate or  coerce." 18 U.S.C. 5 2331(1). 
Section 2331 was  enacted as  part of the Federal Courts  
AdminisIralion Act of 1992, Pub.  L. No. 102-572, 
5 1003(a)(3), 106 Stat. 4506, 4521. Seclion 2333 (having 
been originally enacted in 1990 and repealed for a 
technical reason the next year) was  reenacted in 1992 as  
part of that same Federal Courts  Administration Act. So 
the two sections are part of the same  statutory scheme 
and are to be read together. Nicholas 1. Perry, "The Numer-  
ous  Federal Legal Definitions of Terrorism: The Problem 
of Too Many Grails," 30 1. Legis. 249, 257 (2004). 

Section 2337(1)'s definition of international terrorism 
(amended in 2001 by thePATRlOTAct,  Pub.  L. No. 107-56, 
5 802(a)(I) ,  115 Stat. 272, 376, but  in respects irrelevant 
lo this case) includes not  only violent acts but  also "acts 
dangerous  to h u m a n  life that are a violation of the 
criminal laws of the United States." Giving money to 
Hamas,  like giving a loaded gun  to a child (which also 
is not  a violent act), is an  "act dangerous  to human  life." 
And it violates a federal criminal s tatute enacted in 1994 
and thus  before the m u r d e r  of David Boim-18 U.S.C. 
5 2339A(a), which provides that "whoever provides 
material suppor t  or resources . . ., knowing or intending 
that they are to b e  used in preparat ion for, o r  in carrying 
out, a violation of 118 U.S.C. 5 23321," shall b e  guilty of a 
federal crime. So w e  go  to 18 U.S.C. 5 2332 and discover 
that it criminalizes the killing (whether  classified as 
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homicide, voluntary manslaughter, or  involuntary man- 
slaughter), conspiring to kill, or  inflicting bodily injury 
on, any American citizen outside the United States. 

By this chain of incorporations by reference (section 
2333(a) to section 2331(1) to section 2339A to section 2332), 
w e  see that a donation to a terrorist group that targets 
Americans outside the United States may violate section 
2333. Which makes good sense a s  a counterterrorism 
measure. Damages are a less effective remedy against 
terrorists and their organizations than against their finan- 
cial angels. Terrorist organizations have been sued 
under  section 2333, e.g., Uiignl. il. Pnlesfiric Libel-nlion 
Orgn~i izn f io ir ,  402 F.3d 274 (1st Cir. 2005); Bitoii a. Pnlestiliin~l 
Irrfet.i~n Self-Goaerrlrlre17/ A~rtlrorif!y, 2008 W L  2796469 (D.D.C. 
2008); Knor  a. Pnlestirle Libernlioll Orgnnirnf io i i ,  248 F.R.D. 
420 (S.D.N.Y. 2008), bu t  to collecl a damages judgment 
against such an organization, let alone a judgment 
against tlie terrorists themselves ( i f  they can even be 
identified and thus sued), is, as the first panel opinion 
pointed out, 291 F.3d a t  1021, well-nigh impossible. These 
are foreign organizations and individuals, operating 
abroad and often covertly, and they are often 
impecunious as well. So difficult is it to obtain monetary 
relief against covert foreign organizations like these that 
Congress has taken to passing legislation authorizing the 
payment of judgments against them from U.S. Treasury 
funds. E.g., Victims of Trafficking and Violence Protection 
Act of 2000, Pub. L. No. 106-386, 5 2002, 114 Stat. 1464. 
But that can have no deterrent o r  incapacitative effect, 
whereas suits against financiers of terrorism can cut tlie 
terrorists' lifeline. 



Nos. 05-181 5, 05-1 81 6, 05-1821, 05-7822 9 

And whether i t  makes good sense or not, the imposi- 
tion of civil liability through the chain of incorporations 

is compelled by the statutory texts-as the panel deter- 

mined in its first opinion. 291 F.3d at 1012-16. But in 

addition the panel placed a common law aiding and 
abetting gloss on section 2333. The panel was worried 
about a timing problem: section 2339A was not passed 

until 1994, and the defendants' contributions to Hamas 

began earlier. But that is not a serious problem on the 
view w e  take of the standard for proving causation under  
section 2333; w e  shall see that the fact of contributing to 

a terrorist organization rather than the amount of the 
contribution is the keystone of liability. 

Only because this is a very old case-David Boim was 
killed 12 years ago-does the 1994 effective date of 

section 2339A, two years before his killing, present an 
obstacle to liability, though only with respect to Salall and 
possibly the Holy Land Foundation (but w e  are vacating 
the judgment against the latter anyway, as w e  shall 
explain). For there is no doubt that the other defendants 

made  contributions after section 2339A's effective date. 

Salah, however, having been arrested by Israeli authorities 
in 1993 and not released until 1997, did not render 
material support  to Hamas  between the effective date 

of section 2339A and Boim's killing, so  the judgment 
against him must be  reversed. Few future cases will be  

affected by the timing issue, because few such cases 

will involve donations that were made after section 2333 

was  enacted in 1990 or re-enacted in 1992 but  that ceased 
before 1994. 
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In addition to providing material support  after the 
effective date of section 2339A, a donor to terrorism, to 
be liable under  section 2333, must have known thal the 

money would be  used in preparation for o r  in carrying 
out the killing or attempted killing of, conspiring to kill, 
or  inflicting bodily injury on, an American citizen abroad. 

We know that Hamas kills Israeli Jews; and Boim was 
an Israeli citizen, Jewish, living in Israel, and therefore a 
natural target for Hamas. But w e  must  consider the 

knowledge that the donor to a terrorist organization 
must be shown to possess in order to be liable under  
section 2333 and the proof required to link the donor's act 
to the injury sustained by the victim. The parties have 
discussed both issues mainly under  the rubrics of "con- 
spiracy" and "aiding and abetting." Although those 
labels are significant primarily in criminal cases, they can 

be  used to establish tort liability, see, e.g., Hnlbel.sfnin 7:. 

Welrli, 705 F.2d 472 (D.C. Cir. 1983); Reslnfcmenl f5ecoi~rfi  of 

Torts 55 876(a), (b) (1979), and there is no impropriety in 

discussing them in reference to the liability of donors to 
terrorism under  section 2333 just because that liability is 
primary. Primary liability in the form of material support  

to terrorism has the character of secondary liability. 
Through a chain of incorporations by reference, Congress 
has expressly imposed liability on a class of aiders and 

abettors. 

When a federal tort statute does not create secondary 

liability, so  that the only defendants are primary violators, 
the ordinary tort requirements relating to fault, state of 

mind, causation, and foreseeability must be  satisfied for 
the plaintiff to obtain a judgment. See, e.g., B r i d ~ e  n. 
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Plioeirix Boil11 CT lridernnity Co., 128 S.Ct. 2131, 2141-44 

(2008); Stoiieridge li~vestrrreiit  Pnrfrlrrs, LLC ri. Scieirlific- 
Allnirln, Iric., srrprn, 128 S. Ct. at 769; Holrrres 71. Secirritirs 
lnoes tor  Pt.olcclioii Cory. ,  503 U.S. 258, 268-69 (7992); Associ -  
nled Gerict.nl Coirlrnctors of Cnlifornin, Inc. 11. Cnl<forilin S tn le  
Corrncil of Cnrperilers, 459 U.S. 519 (1983). But when the 
primary liability is that of someone who  aids someone 
else, so  that functionally the primary violator is an aider 
and abettor or other secondary actor, a different set of 
principles comes into play. Those principles are most 
fully developed in the criminal context, but we must be 
careful in borrowing from criminal law because the state- 
of-mind and causation requirements in criminal cases 
often differ from those in civil cases. For example, because 
the criminal law focuses on the dangerousness of a defen- 
dant 's  conduct, the requirement of proving that a crim- 
inal act caused an injury is often attenuated and some- 
times dispensed with altogether, as in the statutes that 
impose criminal liability on providers of material 
support  to terrorism (18 U.S.C. 55 2339A, B, and C), which 
d o  not require proof that the material suppor t  resulted in 
an actual terrorist act, or  that punish an attempt (e.g., 18 
U.S.C. 5 7113) that the intended victim may not even 
have noticed, so that there is no injury. The law of attempt 
has n o  counterpart in tort law, Uni led  Slntes v .  Glndisli,  536 
F.3d 646, 648 (7th Cir. 2008), because there is no tort 
without an injury. E.g., Rozet l fe ldv .  MedicnlProtec l iveCo. ,  73 
F.3d 154, 155-56 (7th Cir. 1996); Wiirskrrilns v. Birribnrriil, 23 
F.3d 1264, 1267 (7th Cir. 1994). 

So prudence counsels us  not to halt our analysis with 
aiding and abetting but to go on and analyze the tort 
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liability of providers of material support  to terrorism 
under  general principles of tort law. We begin by 
noting that knowledge and intent have lesser roles in 
tort la\$? than in criminal law. A volitional act that causes 
an injury gives rise to tort liability for negligence i f  the 
injurer failed to exercise due  care, period. But more is 
required in the case of intentional torts, and w e  can 
assume that since section 2333 provides for an automatic 
trebling of damages it would require proof of intentional 
misconduct even i f  the plaintiffs in this case did not 
have to satisfy the state-of-mind requirements of sections 
2339A and 2332 (but they do). 

Punitive damages are rarely i f  ever imposed unless the 
defendant is found to have engaged in deliberate wrongdo- 
ing. "Something more than the mere commission of a tort 
is alxvays required for punitive damages. There must  be  
circumstances of aggravation or outrage, such as spite or 
'malice,' or a fraudulent or evil motive on the part of the 
defendant, or such a conscious and deliberate disregard of 
tlieinterestsof others that theconduct may be called wilful 
or wanton." W. Page Keeton et a]., Prosser nild Keelor7 oil the 
Lniu 4fTo1-1s 5 2, pp.  9-10 (5th ed.  1984); see, e.g., Molzof u .  

Uitited Stntes, 502 U.S. 301, 305-07 (1992); Kell~ezy u. Peters, 
79 F.3d 33,35 (7th Cir. 1996). Treble damages too, not being 
compensatory, tend to have a punitive aim. "The very idea 
of treble damages reveals an intent to punish past, and to 

deter future, unlawful conduct." Texns Ii7drrstries, litc. u. 
Rndclqf Mnterinls, I I ~ c . ,  451 U.S. 630, 639 (1981); see also 
Verilront Agency ofNnt111.nl Resolirces v. United Stnles ex re/. 
Stevens, 529 U.S. 765, 784-86 (2000); Zclinski u .  Col~riiibin 
300, lnc., 335 F.3d 633, 642 (7th Cir. 2003); Gorelisteiil 
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Eiilerprises, lilc. v. Qirnlit!y Cnrc-USA, Iiic., 874 F.2d 431, 435- 

36 (7th Cir. 1989); Uiiiled Slnlcs v. Mnckbll, 261 F.3d 821,830- 
31 (9th Cir. 2001). 

To give money to a n  organization that commits 
terrorist acts is not intentional misconduct unless one 
either knows that the organization engages in such acts or 
is deliberately indifferent to whether i t  does or not, mean- 
ing that one knows there is a subslanlial probability that 
the organization engages in terrorism but  one does not 
care. "When the facts known to a person place him on 
notice of a risk, lie cannot ignore the facts and plead 
ignorance of the risk." Mnkor Issires Riglits, L t d .  il. Tellnbs 
Iiic., 513 F.3d 702, 704 (7th Cir. 2008). That is recklessness 
and equivalent to recklessness is "wantonness," which 
"has been defined as the conscious doing of some act or 
omission of some duty under  knowledge of existing 
conditions and conscious that from the doing of such act or 
omission of such duty injury will likely or probably result." 
G1.fli~es v. Wildsinilh, 177 So. 2d 448, 451 (Ala. 1965); see also 
Lnildei-s a. Scliool Districl No. 203, O'Fnlloii, 383 N.E.2d 645 
(Ill. App. 1978). "[]In one case w e  read that 'willful and 
wanton misconduct approaches the degree of moral blame 
attached to intentional harm, since the defendant deliber- 
ately inflicts a highly unreasonable risk of harm upon 
others in conscious disregard of it.' Similarly, [another 
case] defines 'willful and wanton' as exhibiting 'an utter 
indifference to or conscious disregard for' safety." Fngoclii 
v. A l g o i ~ q ~ ~ i i ~ l  Lake-ill-the-I-lills Fit-e Protection District, 496 
F.3d 623, 627 (7th Cir. 2007) (citations omitted). 

So it would not be enough to impose liability on a donor 
for violating section 2333, even if there were  n o  state-of- 
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mind requirements in sections 2339A and 2332, that the 
average person or a reasonable person would realize that 
the organization he  was  supporting was a terrorist organi- 
zation, if the actual defendant did not realize it. That 
would just be negligence. But i f  you give a loaded gun  to 
a child, you know you are creating a substantial risk of 
injury and therefore your doing so is reckless and i f  the 
child shoots someone you will be liable to the victim. See 
Prnlt 3. Mnrtinenlr, 870 N.E.2d 1122 (Mass. App. 2007); 
Boi~icil v. Floridn, 791 So. 2d 44, 48-49 (Fla. App. 2001). Thal 
case should be distinguished from one in which the gun is 
given to an adult without adequately explaining the 
dangers-a case of negligent entrustment. To give a small 
child a loaded gun would be a case of criittilrnl recklessness 
and therefore satisfy the state of mind requirement for 
liability undersection 2333 and the statutes that it incorpo- 
rates by reference. For the giver would know he  was  doing 
something extremely dangerous and without justification. 
"If  the actor knows that the consequences are certain, o r  
substantially certain, to result from his act, and still goes 
ahead, he  is treated by the law as i f  he had in fact desired 
to produce the result." Restnlclttent, slr7rn, 5 8A, comment 
b. That you did not desire the child to shoot anyone 
would thus be irrelevant, not only in a tort case, see EEOC 
v. Illinois, 69 F.3d 167, 170 (7th Cir. 1995), but in a criminal 
case. Uitited Stntes U. Foi111tnii1, 768 F.2d 790, 798 (7th Cir. 
1985); cf. United Stntcs v. O1.tegn, 44 F.3d 505, 508 (7th Cir. 
1995). 

A knowing donor to Hamas-that is, a donor w h o  knew 
the aims and activities of the organization-would know 
that Hamas was  gunning for Israelis (unlike some other 
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terrorist groups, Hamas's terrorism is limited to the 
territory of Palestine, including lsrael; see Council on 
Foreign Relations, "Hamas," www.cfr.orglpublication/ 
89681, visited Nov. 16, 2008), that Americans are frequent 
visitors to and sojourners in lsrael, that many U.S. citizens 
live in Israel (American Citizens Abroad, an advocacy 
group for expatriates, reports on the basis of State De- 
partment data that in 1999 there were about 184,000 
American citizens living in Israel, accounting for about 
3.1 percent of the country's population, www.aca.ch/ 
amabroad.pdf, visited Nov. 16, 2008), and that donations 
to Hamas, by augmenting Hamas's  resources, would 
enable Hamas  to kill or  wound,  or try to kill, or conspire to 
kill more people in Israel. And given such foreseeable 
consequences, such donations would "appear to be in- 
tended . . . to intimidate or coerce a civilian population" o r  
to "affect the conduct of a government by . . . assassina- 
tion," as required by section 2331(1) in order to dis- 
tinguish terrorist acts from other violent crimes, though 
it is not a state-of-mind requirement; i t  is a matter of 
external appearance rather than subjective intent, which is 
internal to the intender. 

It is true that "the word 'recklessness' in law covers a 
spectrum of meaning, ranging from gross negligence in 
an accident case to the conduct of a robber in shooting at 
a pursuing policeman without aiming carefully." Wriglrf  v. 
Urrited Sfntes, 809 F.2d 425, 427 (7th Cir. 1987). In tort law 
it sometimes connotes merely gross negligence and a t  
other times requires only that the defendant have acted 
in the face of an unreasonable risk that he  should have 
been aware of even if he wasn't. But when, as in the 



16 Nos. 05-1815, 05-7816, 05-1821, 05-1822 

passages we have quoted both from judicial opinions 

and from the Reslnterllclll, recklessness entails actual 
knowledge of the risk, the tort concept merges with tlie 
criminal concept, which likewise "generally permits a 

finding of recklessness only when a person disregards a 

risk of harm of which lie is aware." Fnrrlrcr v. Brellrlnn, 571 

U.S. 825, 837 (1994); see also Desrlick il. A~lrrricnll Brondcnsl- 
i11g Cos., 233 F.3d 514, 517-578 (7th Cir. 2000); American 

Law Institute, Model Pcrlnl Code 5 2.02(2)(c) (7962) (defining 
recklessness as "consciously disregardling] a substantial 
and unjustifiable risk that the material element exists or 
will result from his conduct"). 

Critically, the criminal (like the tort) concept of reck- 

lessness is more concerned with tlie nature and knowl- 
edge of the risk that the defendant creates than with its 
magnitude. The Court in Fnrlilrr U. Bre111in11 spoke of an 
"excessive" risk, a "significant" risk, a "substantial" risk, 
and an "intolerable" risk, 511 U.S. at 837-38, 842-43, 846, 

the Model Pennl Code of a "substantial and unjustifiable" 

risk, and the Restnfeiilerlf of an "unreasonable" risk, Reslnfe- 
menf, slrprn, 5 500, rather than assigning a minimum 

probability to the risk. These are rrlntive terms; what is 
excessive, intolerable, etc., depends  on the nature of the 

defendant's conduct. Ordinarily, i t  is true, the risk is 
great in a probabilistic sense; for the greater it is, the 
more  likely it is to materialize and so give rise to a law- 
suit or  a prosecution and thus be mentioned in a judicial 

opinion. The greater the risk, moreover, the more 
obvious it will be  to the risk taker, enabling the trier of 

fact to infer the risk taker's knowledge of the risk with 

greater confidence, see, e.g., Fnrmer 11. Brenrlnn, slrprn, 511 
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U.S. at 842; Drrcliic~orth o. Frnrrrcir, 780 F.2d 645, 652 (7th 

Cir. 1985), though, as the Fni-lner decision emphasizes, 
subject to rebuttal. 511 U.S. at 837-42. 

But probability isn't everything. The risk that one of 
the workers on a project to build a bridge or a sky- 
scraper will be killed map be greater illan the risk that a 
driver will be killed by someone who  flings rocks from 
an overpass at the cars traveling on the highway beneath. 
But only the second risk, though smaller, is deemed 
excessive and therefore reckless. McNnllb ii.  Sfnte, 887 So. 2d 
929, 974-75 (Ala. Crim. App. 2001). (The first risk might 
not even be  negligent.) As w e  explained in United Stntes v. 
Boyd, 475 F.3d 875, 877 (7th Cir. 2007) (emphasis added) ,  
"firing multiple shots from a powerful gun . . . in the 
d o w n t o w n  of a large  city a t  a t i m e  w h e n  
pedestrians . . . are known to be in the vicinity creates a 

risk of harm that, ~ullile 1101 lnrge in probnbilistic terms, is 
'substantial' relative to the gratuitousness of the defen- 
dant's actions. . . . An activity is reckless when the 
potential harm that it creates. .  . is  wildl)' disproportionate 
to any benefits that the activity might be  expected to 
confer . . . . The emotional gratification that defendant 
Boyd derived from shooting into the night, though 
perhaps great, is not the kind of benefit that has weight 
in the scales when on the other side is danger to life and 
limb, even i f  the danger is limited, as it was  here." Lennolr 
u. Metropolifnn LifE 111s. Co., 504 F.3d 617, 623 (6th Cir. 2007), 
says that the risk must  be  "weighed against the lack of 
social utility of the activity" in adjudging its reasonable- 
ness. See also Orbnn v. Vnlrghn, 123 F.3d 727, 733 (3d Cir. 
1997). 
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So i f  you give a person rocks w h o  has told pou he would 
like to kill drivers by dropping them on cars from an 

overpass, and he  succeeds against the odds  in killing 
someone by this means, you are guilty of pro- 
viding material suppor t  to a murderer, or equivalently of 
aiding and abetting-for remember that when the 
primary violator of a statute is someone w h o  provides 
assistance to another he  is functionally an aider and 
abettor. The mental element required to fix liability on a 

donor to Hamas  is therefore present if the donor  knows 
the character of that organization. 

The Court also said in Fnrli~er v. Bre1111ni1 that i t  was  n o  
defense that "lie (a  particular prison official] did not know 
that the complainant was especially likely to be  assaulted 
by the specific prisoner w h o  eventually committed the 
assault." 511 U.S. a t  843. That brings us  to our  next ques- 
tion-the standard of causation in a suit under  section 
2333. 

It is "black letter" law that tort liability requires proof of 
causation. But like much legal shorthand, the black letter 
is inaccurate i f  treated as exceptionless. We made that 
point explicitlp, with the aid of an example, in Mnxztwll il. 

K P M G  LLP, 520 F.3d 713, 716 (7th Cir. 2008): "when two 
fires join and destroy the plaintiff's property and each one 
would have destroyed it by itself nlld so iuns ]lot n ~tecessnr!y 

condifioll . . .each of the  firemakers ( i f  negligent) is [never- 
theless] liable to the plaintiff forhaving 'caused' the injury. 
Kingston v. Cl~icngo 5. N.W. Ry., 211 N.W. 913 (Wis. 1927)" 
(emphasis added) ;  see also Utlifed Stnfes  v. Felicinrlo, 45 
F.3d 1070, 1075 (7th Cir. 1995). (A "necessary condition" is 
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another term for a "but for" cause. Mnriucll  u. K P M G  LLP, 
sirprn, 520 F.3d at 716.) 

The multiple-fire example and the principle that sub- 
tends it were explained at greater length in Uni ted  Slnles 
a. ]ohiisoit, 380 F.3d 1013, 1016 (7th Cir. 2004): "[T]M'o 
defendants each start a fire, and the fires join and destroy 
tlie plaintiff's house; eitlier fire, liowever, would have 
destroyed his house. Each defendant could therefore 
argue that he should not be liable for tlie damage because 
it would have occurred even if he  had not set his fire; 
bu t  the law rejects the a rgument .  . . . [I]n the famous old 
case of Cook v. Mitinenpolis ,  S f .  Pnlrl fi Snirll Ste. M n r i e  R!y., 
74 N.W. 561,564 (Wis. 1898), w e  read that 'it is n o  defense 
for a person against whom negligence which causes 
damages is established, to prove that without fault on his 
part the same damage would have resulted from the 
negligent act of the other, but each is responsible for the 
entire damage.'See also A n d c r s o n  v. Miitnef lpolis ,  S f .  Pntrl fi 
Snirlt SIC.  Mnric  Ry., 179 N.W. 45, 49 (Minn. 1920); Col l ins  
v. Attiericnn Oploiirclric Ass ' t i ,  693 F.2d 636, 640 n. 4 (7th 
Cir. 1982); H o ~ r s i n g  21, L.L.C. a. At ln i i l i c  Hoitie Birilders Co. ,  
289 F.3d 1050, 1056-57 (8th Cir. 2002); Snitders a. Atttericnn 
Body  A r m o r  b Eqitiptiienl, liic., 652 So. 2d 883, 884-85 (Fla. 
App.  1995); Gnrre t t  a. Grnn t  School D i s t .  No.  124, 487 
N.E.2d 699, 706 (111. App. 1985); Nnr t  v. Broiuire, 163 Cal. 
Rptr. 356,363-64 (App. 1980); W. Page Keeton et al., Prosser 
niid Keetoit ott file Lflill of Tor t s  § 41, pp. 266-67 (5th ed. 1984). 
The tortfeasor cannot avoid liability by pointing to an 
alternative tiltlnictfiil cause of the damage that he  
inflicted . . . . [Slince neither fire was  a sine qua non of the 
plaintiff's injury, it could be argued that neither fire maker 
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had committed a tort. Tort law rejects this conclusion 

for the practical reason that tortious activity that produces 
harm would go unsanctioned otherwise." The Prosser 

treatise also recognizes the multiple-fire case as one in 
which the plaintiff is not required lo prove "but for" 

causation. Keeton et al., slrprn, 5 41, pp. 266-68; cf. Edward 
1. Schwartzbauer and Sidney Shindell, "Cancer and The 

Adjudicative Process: The Interface of Environmental 
Protection and Toxic Tort Law," 14 Aril.]. L. 0 Med. I ,  31- 

32 (1988). 

In the fire cases the acts of each defendant are sufficient 
conditions of the resulting injury, though they are not 
necessary conditions (that is, they are not but-for causes). 

But in Slr~tiiilers u. Tice, 199 P.2d 7 (CaI. 1948), where two 
hunters  negligently shot their rifles at the same time and 
a third hunter was  hit by one of the bullets, i t  could not 
be determined which hunter's gun the bullet had come 
from and so it could not be proved bp a preponderance 
of the evidence that either of the shooters was  the injurer 
in either a sufficient-condition or a necessary-condition 

sense; for each hunter, the probabilily that he had caused 
the injury was  only 50 percent, since one of the shots 
had missed. Nevertheless both defendants were held 

jointly and severally liable to the injured person. See 

Reslnteiileilt, srrprn, 5 433B(3) and comment f; Slllith U.  Ctrtfer 
Biological, 823 P.2d 717, 725 (I-law. 1991); In re "Ageiit 
Orange" Prodlrcf Linbility Lifignfion, 597 F. Supp. 740, 822-23 

(E.D.N.Y. 1984). 

Similarly, if several firms spill toxic waste that finds 
its way into groundwater and causes damage to property 
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but it is impossible to determine which firm's spill caused 
tlie damage, all are liable. See, e.g., Chel~i-Nrrclenr Sysfelns,  
111~.  a. Brrsh, 292 F.3d 254, 259-60 (D.C. Cir. 2002); Uliifed 
S f n f e s  o. Alcnn A l ~ r ~ i l i ~ l i r ~ n  Corp., 964 F.2d 252,267-69 (3d Cir. 
1992); Micllie a .  Grenf Lnkcs Steel Diilisiu~i, 495 F.2d 213, 217- 
78 (6th Cir. 1974); Lnlidel-s i t .  Ensf Tcxns Snll Wnler  Dispusnl 
Co., 248 S.W.2d 731, 734 (Tex. 1952); Pllillips Pelrolelrl~r Co. 
a. Hnrdee, 189 F.2d 205, 21 1-72 (5th Cir. 1951); 2 Frank P. 
Grad, Trentise 011 Ei~uil .on~~ierlfnl  Lni11 5 3.02 (2007); Kenneth 
S. Abraham, "The Relation Between Civil Liability and 
Environmental Regulation: An Analytical Overview," 41 
Wnshbrrrll L. 1. 379, 386-87 (2002). Even if the amount of 
pollution caused by each party would be  too slight to 
warrant a finding that any one of them had created a 

nuisance ( the  common law basis for treating pollution a s  

a tort), "pollution of a stream to even a slight extent 
becomes unreasonable [and therefore a nuisance] when 
similar pollution by others makes the condition of the 
stream approach the danger point. The single act itself 
becomes wrongful because it is done in tlie context of what 
others are doing." Keeton el al., srrprn, 5 52, p. 354. 

In all these cases the requirement o l  proving causation is 
relaxed because otherwise there would be a wrong and 
an injury but  n o  remedy because the court would beunable 
to determine which wrongdoer inflicted the injury. If 
"each [defendant] bears a like relationship to the event" 
and "each seeks to escape liability for a reason that, if 
recognized, would likewise protect each other defendant 
in the group, thus leaving the plaintiff without a remedy," 
the attempt a t  escape fails; each is liable. Id., 5 41, p. 268. 
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But w e  must consider the situation in which there is 
uncertainty about the causal connection between the 
wrongful conduct of a l l  potential tortfeasors and the 
injury. Suppose in our first case that there was  a third 
fire, of natural origin (the result of a lightning strike, 
perhaps), and it alone might liave sufficed to destroy the 
plaintiff's house. One might think the law would 
require the plaintiff to prove that i t  was  more likely than 
not that had it not been for the defendants' negligence, 
his house would not have burned down-the fire of 
natural origin would have petered out before reaching it. 
Instead the law requires proof only that there was a 
substantial probability that the defendants' fires (or 
rather either of them) were the cause. See, e.g., Andersor7 v. 
Mi17nenpolis, S t .  Pnirl G Sn111t Slc. Mnr ie  RIJ., szrprn, 179 N.W. 
at 46; R e s t n f e ~ r i e n t ,  slrpi-n, 5 432(2) ("if  two forces are actively 
operating, one because of the actor's negligence, the other 
not because of any misconduct on his part, and each of 
itself is sufficient to bring about harm to another, the 
actor's negligence may be found to be  a substantial factor 
in bringing i t  about"); see also id., illustration 3. 

O u r  final example is Keel v. Hninliire, 331 P.2d 397 (Okla. 
1958). Thirty Lo forty junior high school students showed 
u p  one day for their music class, but the instructor failed to 
show so  the kids began throwing wooden erasers, chalk, 
and even a Coke bottle at each other. One of the students 
was  struck in the eye by an eraser, and sued. O n e  of the 
defendants, Keel, apparently had not thrown anything. 
But he  had retrieved some of the erasers after they had 
been thrown and had handed them back to the throwers. 
There was  no indication that Keel had handed the eraser 
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to the kid w h o  threw it at the plaintiff and injured her, 
but  the court deemed that immaterial. It was  enough 
that Keel had participated in the wrongful activity a s  a 
whole. H e  thus was  liable even though there was  no 
proven, or even likely, causal connection between any- 
thing he did and the injury. " 'One who  commands, directs, 
advises, encourages, procures, instigates, promotes, 
controls, aids, o r  abets a ~ r rongfu l  act by another has 
been regarded as being as responsible as the one who  
commits the act so  a s  to impose liability upon the former 
to the same extent as i f  he had performed the act him- 
self.'" Id. at 401. The court did not use the term "material 
support," but  in handing erasers to the throwers Keel was  
providing them with material support  in a literal sense. It 
was  enough to make him liable that he had helped to 
create a danger; it was immaterial that the effect of his 
help could not be  determined-that his acts could not be 
found to be  either a necessary or a sufficient condition 
of the injury. 

The cases that w e  have discussed d o  not involve mone- 
tary contributions to a wrongdoer. But then criminals and 
other intentional tortfeasors d o  not usually solicit volun- 
tary contributions. Terrorist organizations do. But this is 
just to say that terrorism is s ~ r i  gci~eris. So consider an 
organization solely involved in committing terrorist acts 
and a hundred people all of whom know the character of 
the organization and each of whom contributes $1,000 to 
it, for a total of $100,000. The organization has additional 
resources from other, unknown contributors of $200,000 
and it uses its total resources of $300,000 to recruit, train, 
equip, and deploy terrorists w h o  commit a variety of 
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terrorist acts one of which kills an American citizen. His 
estate brings a suit under  section 2333 against one of the 

knowing contributors of $7,000. The tort principlcs that 
w e  have reviewed would make the defendant jointly 

and severally liable witli all the other contributors. The 
fact that the death could not be traced to any of the contri- 

butors (as in the example the Supreme Court gave in 
Fnrlner o. Brenllnn) and that some of them may have been 

ignorant of the mission of the organization (and there- 
fore not liable under  a statute requiring proof of inten- 
tional or reckless misconduct) would be irrelevant. The 
knowing contributors as a whole wrould have significantly 
enhanced the risk of terrorist acts and thus the probability 
that the plaintiff's decedent would be a victim, and this 
would be true even i f  Hamas had incurred a cost of more 

than $1,000 to kill tlie American, so  that n o  defendant's 
contribution was  a sufficient condition of his death. 

This case is only a little more difficult because Hamas 
is (and was at tlie time of David Boim's death) engaged not 
only in terrorism but  alsoin providing health, educational, 
and other social welfare services. The defendants other 

than Salah directed their support  exclusively to those 
services. But i f  you give money to an organization that 
you know to be  engaged in terrorism, the fact that you 

earmark i t  for the organization's nonterrorist activities 
does not get you off the liability hook, as w e  noted in a 

related context in H~rssnin u. M~rknsey, 518 F.3d 534, 538-39 

(7th Cir. 2008); see also Singh-Knur u. Ashcroft, 385 F.3d 293, 

301 (3d Cir. 2004). The reasons are  twofold. The first is the 
fungibility of money. If Hamas budgets $2 million for 
terrorism and $2 million for social services and receives 
































































































































